IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

1		
Plaintiff-Appellee,		
v.)	Supreme Court No.	18-0563
JARROD DALE MAJORS,		
Defendant-Appellant.)		

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR TAYLOR COUNTY HONORABLE JOHN D. LLOYD, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

BRADLEY M. BENDER Assistant Appellate Defender bbender@spd.state.ia.us appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE Fourth Floor Lucas Building Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Under article I, section 17 of the Iowa Constitution, the portion of the statutory sentencing schema requiring a juvenile to serve seventy percent of the period of incarceration before parole eligibility may not be imposed without a prior determination by the district court that the minimum period of incarceration without parole is warranted under the factors previously identified by the Iowa Supreme Court. The district court concluded that the mandatory minimum sentence is warranted as part of Majors' sentence for the offense of Attempted Murder. Did the district court abuse its discretion in failing to follow this Court's prior mandate when it imposed the mandatory minimum sentence?

Authorities

State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311 (Iowa 1994)

State v. Majors, 897 N.W2d. 124 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Roby, 897 N.W.2d 127 (Iowa 2017)

People v. Hyatt, 891 N.W.2d 549 (Mich. Ct. App. 2016)

United States v. Haack, 403 F.3d 997 (8th Cir. 2005)

The District Court Abused its Discretion for Failing to Follow the Mandate from the Supreme Court.

State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Roby, 897 N.W.2d 127 (Iowa 2017)

City of Okoboji v. Iowa Dist. Ct., 744 N.W.2d 327 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Johnson, 298 N.W.2d 293 (Iowa 1980)

5 Am.Jur.2d Appellate Review § 784 (1995)

1. Age and features of youthful behavior.

State v. Seats, 865 N.W.2d 545 (Iowa 2015)

Elizabeth S. Scott et al., Young Adulthood as a Transitional Legal Category: Science, Social Change, and Justice Policy, 85 Fordham L. Rev. 641 (2016)

State v. Null, 836 N.W.2d 41 (Iowa 2013)

Elizabeth S. Scott & Lawrence Steinberg, Rethinking Juvenile Justice 60 (2008)

State v. Sweet, 879 N.W.2d 811 (Iowa 2016)

Elizabeth Scott et al., Juvenile Sentencing Reform in a Constitutional Framework, 88 Temp. L. Rev. 675 (2016)

2. Family and home environment.

State v. Roby, 897 N.W.2d 127, 138 (Iowa 2017)

Elizabeth Scott et al., Juvenile Sentencing Reform in a Constitutional Framework, 88 Temp. L. Rev. 675 (2016)

State v. Seats, 865 N.W.2d 545 (Iowa 2015)

3. Circumstances of the crime.

State v. Roby, 897 N.W.2d 127, 138 (Iowa 2017)

Elizabeth Scott et al., Juvenile Sentencing Reform in a Constitutional Framework, 88 Temp. L. Rev. 675 (2016)

4. Legal Competency.

State v. Roby, 897 N.W.2d 127 (Iowa 2017)

Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48 (2010)

Elizabeth Scott et al., Juvenile Sentencing Reform in a Constitutional Framework, 88 Temp. L. Rev. 675 (2016)

5. Rehabilitation.

State v. Roby, 897 N.W.2d 127, 138 (Iowa 2017)

Elizabeth Scott et al., Juvenile Sentencing Reform in a Constitutional Framework, 88 Temp. L. Rev. 675 (2016)

State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378 (Iowa 2014)

6. The District Court's Abuse of Discretion.

State v. Roby, 897 N.W.2d 127 (Iowa 2017)

II. The right to assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 10 of the Iowa Constitution is the right to "effective" assistance of counsel. Majors alleges that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present expert testimony regarding the *Lyle* factors as mandated by the *Roby* Court. Was trial counsel ineffective?

Authorities

State v. Rodriguez, 804 N.W.2d 844 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Ross, 845 N.W.2d 692 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Fountain, 786 N.W.2d 260 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Straw, 709 N.W.2d 128 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Graves, 668 N.W.2d 860 (Iowa 2003)

Taylor v. State, 352 N.W.2d 683 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Brubaker, 805 N.W.2d 164 (Iowa 2011)

King v. State, 797 N.W.2d 565 (Iowa 2011)

Everett v. State, 789 N.W.2d 151 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Truesdell, 679 N.W.2d 611 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Allison, 576 N.W.2d 371 (Iowa 1998)

Trial Counsel was Ineffective for Failing to Present Expert Witness at Juvenile Resentencing Hearing.

State v. Majors, 897 N.W2d. 124 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Roby, 897 N.W.2d 127 (Iowa 2017)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because issues raised involves whether the district court followed the mandate of this Court when it remanded for resentencing to consider the sentencing factors articulated in State v. Roby, 897 N.W.2d 127 (Iowa 2017). Furthermore, Majors is requesting this Court to determine whether trial counsel has a duty to present an expert witness to educate and explain to the district court the sentencing factors articulated by the Roby Court. As such, this case presents substantial questions of enunciating or changing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(c). This case also presents a fundamental issue of broad public importance that is requiring ultimate determination by the Supreme Court. Iowa R. App. R. 6.903(2)(d), 6.1101(2)(d).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of Case. Defendant-Appellant Jarrod Dale Majors appeals from the resentencing on the offenses of Attempted Murder and Burglary in the Second Degree in violation of Iowa Code sections 707.11, 713.1, and 713.5 in

the Taylor County District Court following a remand from the Iowa Supreme Court. The Honorable John D. Lloyd presided over all relevant proceedings.

Prior District Court Proceedings. On July 2, 2002, Majors was charged by Trial Information with the followings offenses: (1) Burglary in the First Degree, a class B felony, in violation of Iowa Code section 713.3 (2001); (2) Attempted Murder, a class B felony, in violation of Iowa Code section 707.11 (2001); (3) Attempted Murder, a class B felony, in violation of Iowa Code section 707.11 (2001); (4) Assault While Participating in Felony, a class D felony, in violation of Iowa Code section 708.3 (2001); (5) Assault While Participating in Felony, a class D felony, in violation of Iowa Code section 708.3 (2001); (6) Assault While Participating in Felony, a class D felony, in violation of Iowa Code section 708.3(2001); (7) Going Armed with Intent, a class D felony, in violation of Iowa Code section 708.8 (2001); (8) Going Armed with Intent, a class D felony, in violation of Iowa Code section 708.8 (2001); (9) Going Armed with Intent, a class D felony, in violation of Iowa Code section 708.8 (2001); (10) Criminal Trespass, a serious misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code section 716.7 (2001) and (11) Criminal Mischief, a serious misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code section 716.7 (2001). (Trial Information) (App. pp. 5-8). The State alleged that Majors was seventeen years old at that time of these offenses. (Trial Information) (App. pp. 5-8). Majors pled not guilty to the charges and waived his right to speedy trial. (Arraignment Order) (App. p. 9).

The day before the jury trial was scheduled to begin, Majors entered into a plea agreement with the State. (11/19/02 Calendar Entry) (App. p. 10). This Court has previously noted that the plea agreement was as follows: "Majors entered an *Alford* plea to one count of attempted murder and agreed not to appeal that plea. In exchange, the State agreed to dismiss the ten remaining charges upon the expiration of the appeal deadline." *Majors v. State*, No. 12-1090, 2013 WL 2637599, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. June 12, 2013).

A sentencing hearing commenced on January 22, 2003 and the court sentenced Majors to serve an indeterminate term of imprisonment not to exceed twenty-five years and

serve a mandatory minimum sentence of not less than 85% of the sentence before he is eligible for parole pursuant to section 902.12. (1/22/03 Judgment and Sentence) (App. pp. 11-12). After the court imposed its sentence, Majors orally notified the court of his intent to appeal the sentence. See Majors, 2013 WL 2637599, at *2. The State then asserted that it would prosecute the remaining ten counts against Majors pursuant to the plea agreement. See id. After discussing his intent to appeal the sentence with both his attorney and his mother off the record, Majors withdrew his notice of appeal. See id. In turn, the State asserted it would move to dismiss the remaining charges upon the expiration of the appeal period. See id.

On February 21, 2003, Majors filed a Notice of Appeal after having a telephone conversation with his attorney who advised him the State would initiate prosecution of the remaining counts of the Trial Information as the filing of the Notice of Appeal would violate the plea agreement. (2/21/03 Notice of Appeal) (App. p. 13). As a result, the State initiated prosecution on the remaining ten counts.

Majors' attorney withdrew from representation and the court appointed a new attorney to represent Majors on the remaining charges. (2/25/03 Calendar Entry) (App. p. 14). Majors then reached a plea agreement on the ten remaining charges on May 13, 2003. (5/13/03 Hrg. Tr. p. 2, Line 1 - p. 5, Line 7; 5/13/03 Calendar Entry) (App. p. 16). agreed to plead guilty to the lesser included offense of Burglary in the Second Degree and also agreed to dismiss the appeal of his sentence for attempted murder. (5/13/03 Hrg. Tr. p. 2, Line 1 - p. 5, Line 7; 5/13/03 Calendar Entry) (App. p. 16). The sentence on the Burglary charge will be recommended to be served consecutive to the previously imposed sentence on the Attempted Murder charge. (5/13/03 Hrg. Tr. p. 2, Line 1 – p. 5, Line 7; 5/13/03 Calendar Entry) (App. p. 16). exchange for Majors' plea, the State agreed to dismiss the nine remaining charges. (5/13/03 Hrg. Tr. p. 2, Line 1 - p. 5, Line 7; 5/13/05 Calendar Entry) (App. p. 16). Majors waived time for sentencing and requested immediate sentencing. (5/13/03 Judgment and Sentence) (App. pp. 17-18). The court sentenced Majors to an indeterminate term in prison not to

exceed ten years on the Burglary in the Second Degree charge to run consecutively to the twenty-five-year attempted-murder sentence. (5/13/03 Judgment and Sentence) (App. pp. 17-18).

On January 14, 2009, Majors filed a Motion to Void/Alter Plea Agreement which claimed that his attorney unduly influenced him to file an appeal of the attempted murder conviction and the sentence that resulted in the subsequent prosecution of the remaining charged. (Motion to Void/Alter Plea) (App. pp. 19-23). The district court treated the motion as a Motion in Arrest of Judgment and denied the motion as not (Ruling on Defendant's Motion in Arrest of timely filed. Judgment) (App. p. 24). Majors filed a Motion to Enlarge or Amend the court's ruling which requested the court to reconsider its decision. (Motion to Enlarge or Amend) (App. p. The district denied the motion and concluded that the court's previously ruling in this matter stands. (Ruling on Defendant's Motion to Enlarge or Amend) (App. p. 29). Majors appealed the court's denial to the Iowa Supreme Court which

summarily affirmed the district court's ruling. (3/19/09 Notice of Appeal; 7/7/09 SCT Order) (App. pp. 30; 31).

On January 29, 2010, Majors filed a Petition to Void Plea which stated that his attorney unduly influenced him to file an appeal of his initial conviction and sentence of attempted murder. (Petition to Void Plea) (App. p. 32). The district court treated the petition as a Motion in Arrest of Judgment and denied the motion as not timely filed. (Ruling on Defendant's Motion in Arrest of Judgment) (App. p. 39).

On May 9, 2014, Majors filed a Motion to Correct an Illegal Sentence which argued that, since he was a juvenile at

¹Majors also filed two postconviction relief applications since his original sentencing. In December 2004, Majors filed a pro se application for postconviction relief challenging the subject matter jurisdiction of the district court to impose judgment and sentence against him for acts he committed as a minor. See Majors, 2013 WL 2637599, at *3. The State moved for summary judgment which the district court granted. See id. Majors appealed but the Iowa Supreme Court dismissed the See id. In April 2010, Majors filed a appeal as frivolous. second application for postconviction relief which alleged that a competency hearing should have been held to determine whether he was able to understand the plea and sentencing proceedings. See id. The district court found the application for postconviction relief was time-barred by the applicable statute of limitations and did not reach the merits of Majors' See id. The Iowa Court of Appeals affirmed the argument. district court's decision. See id.

the time of the commission of the crimes, the imposition of the automatic mandatory minimum sentence constitutes an illegal sentence and he was entitled to an individualized resentencing hearing. (Motion to Correct an Illegal Sentence) (App. pp. 40-45).

A resentencing hearing was held on September 16, 2014. (9/16/14 Hrg. Tr. p. 1). At the outset of the hearing, the parties stipulated that based on the recent rulings of the Iowa Supreme Court, Majors' motion should be granted to the extent that the court's prior automatic imposition of the sentencing provision under section 902.12 constitutes an illegal sentence. (9/16/14 Tr. p. 3, Line 1 - p. 7, Line 20). As a result, the parties agreed that Majors was entitled to an individualized resentencing hearing but the parties did not stipulate to the appropriate sentences to be imposed. (9/16/14 Tr. p. 3, Line 1 - p. 7, Line 20). The court than heard and received evidence from the parties, a victim impact statement from the victim and the parties' recommendations as to what sentences should be imposed. (9/16/14 Tr. p. 7, Line 21 - p. 57, Line 22).

The court took Majors' resentencing under advisement and considered whether the mandatory minimum sentence pursuant to section 902.12 is the subject to his resentencing or if such mandatory sentence is unconstitutional under the Cruel and Unusual Punishment Clause of the (Ruling on Defendant's Motion to Correct an Constitution. Illegal Sentence p. 2) (App. p. 47). On September 26, 2014, the district court issued a Ruling which concluded that "[a]fter comprehensive consideration of all of the relevant factors, for the reasons set forth above, it is the conclusion of the court that the defendant is the exceptional case in which sentences providing for the maximum period of incarceration, including a mandatory minimum sentencing provision, are appropriate." (Ruling on Defendant's Motion to Correct an Illegal Sentence pp. 11-12) (App. pp. 56-57).

The court than issued a judgment entry which resentenced Majors in accordance with its Ruling on Majors' Motion to Correct an Illegal Sentence. (9/26/14 Judgment) (App. pp. 59-63). On the charge of Burglary in the Second Degree, the court ordered Majors to be sentenced to an

indeterminate term of sentence not to exceed ten years and pay a fine of \$1000 as well as the statutory surcharges and court costs. (9/26/14 Judgment) (App. pp. 59-63). The court suspended the imposition of the fine and surcharge. (9/26/14 Judgment) (App. pp. 59-63). On the charge of Attempted Murder, the court ordered Majors to be sentenced to an indeterminate term of imprisonment not to exceed twenty-five years and Majors must serve at least 70% of the maximum term of the sentence before he is eligible for parole. (9/26/14 Judgment) (App. pp. 59-63). The court also ordered that the sentence on each count shall be served consecutive to each other for a total term of incarceration not to exceed thirty-five years. (9/26/14 Judgment) (App. pp. 59-63). Majors filed a Notice of Appeal on October 2, 2014. (10/2/14 Notice of Appeal) (App. p. 64).

Prior Appellate Proceedings. On his previous appeal, Majors argued that the district court abused its discretion in imposing a sentence of incarceration without parole by failing to properly recognize and apply the relevant sentencing factors outlined in *State v. Lyle*, 854 N.W.2d 378 (Iowa 2014). The

Court of Appeals affirmed Majors' sentence, finding the district court did not abuse its discretion in resentencing Majors:

The district court did provide an individualized sentencing hearing, imposed a sentence within the allowable statutory framework, and carefully considered the factors stated in *Null* and *Lyle* to the extent the record reflected information on each factor. We cannot say the sentences imposed were unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds. We find no abuse of discretion. We affirm.

State v. Majors, No. 14-1670, 2016 WL 3272074, at *6 (Iowa Ct. App. June 15, 2016) (footnote omitted).

Majors sought further review of the Iowa Court of Appeals' decision which the Supreme Court granted. State v. Majors, 897 N.W.2d 124 (Iowa 2017), reh'g denied (July 13, 2017). The Supreme Court vacated the Court of Appeals' decision and concluded that the district court abused its discretion by imposing a minimum period of incarceration without the eligibility of parole. Id. at 127. The Supreme Court further concluded that the sentencing transcript clearly reveals the district court misapplied the relevant factors identified and explained in State v. Roby, 897 N.W.2d 127 (Iowa 2017). Id. The Supreme Court also concluded that the

and gave improper weight to factors beyond those described in *Roby*. *Id*. Accordingly, the Supreme Court reversed the sentence of the district court and remanded for resentencing consistent with the sentencing factors as explained in *Roby*. *Id*.

District Court's Resentencing Proceedings. Following remand from the Supreme Court, an attorney was appointed to represent Majors for the resentencing proceedings. (8/10/17 Order Appointing Counsel) (App. pp. 65-67). However, over the next five months, the district court appointed three additional attorneys following motions to withdraw filed by the respective attorneys. (11/27/17 Motion to Withdraw; 12/5/17 Order; 1/16/18 Motion to Withdraw; 1/25/18 Order; 1/27/18 Motion to Withdraw; 1/30/18 Order) (App. pp. 68; 69-70; 71-72; 73-74; 75-76; 77-78).

On January 30, 2018, the State filed a notice designating Dr. Theresa Clemons of North Central Correctional Facility as expert for the resentencing hearing. (Designation of Expert) (App. p. 79). Majors filed a Motion in Limine which sought to

exclude the State's expert from testifying at the resentencing hearing since the State failed to provide timely notification of the expert. (Motion in Limine) (App. pp. 80-81). The State resisted Majors' motion. (Resistance to Motion in Limine) (App. pp. 82-84). The district court denied Majors' motion without a hearing. (2/9/18 Order) (App. pp. 85-86).

A resentencing hearing commenced on March 5, 2018. (Resent. Hrg. Tr. p. 1; Order on Resentencing) (App. pp. 87-102). Following the hearing, the court concluded that, after considering the *Lyle* factors, the mandatory minimum sentence for adults convicted of attempted murder applies to Majors and that he should be subject to serve seventy percent of the sentence before he is eligible for parole. (Order on Resentencing) (App. pp. 87-102). Specifically, the court found the following: (1) Majors' age is not a mitigating factor; (2) Majors' family or household issues is not a mitigating factor; (3) the circumstances of the crime does not mitigate to favor a reduced penalty; (4) Majors' legal competency is not a mitigating factor; and (5) Majors' possibility of rehabilitation and the capacity for change would mitigate in Majors' favor,

albeit somewhat weakly in the district court's assessment. (Order on Resentencing) (App. pp. 87-102).

court than issued a judgment entry which resentenced Majors in accordance with its Ruling Resentencing. (4/2/18 Judgment) (App. pp. 103-107). On the charge of Burglary in the Second Degree, the court ordered Majors to be sentenced to an indeterminate term of sentence not to exceed ten years and pay a fine of \$1000 as well as the statutory surcharges and court costs. (4/2/18 Judgment) (App. pp. 103-107). The court suspended the imposition of the fine and surcharge. (4/2/18 Judgment) (App. pp. 103-107). On the charge of Attempted Murder, the court ordered Majors to be sentenced to an indeterminate term of imprisonment not to exceed twenty-five years and Majors must serve at least 70% of the maximum term of the sentence before he is eligible for parole. (4/2/18 Judgment) (App. pp. 103-107). The court also ordered that the sentence on each count shall be served consecutive to each other for a total term of incarceration not to exceed thirty-five years. (4/2/18 Judgment) (App. pp. 103-107). The court also ordered that the no-contact order with

the Peckhams be extended for a period of five years. (4/2/18 Judgment) (App. pp. 103-107).

Majors filed a Notice of Appeal on April 11, 2018. (4/11/18 Notice of Appeal) (App. p. 108).

Background Facts. The Supreme Court has previously summarized the facts of the case as the following:

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