IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
Supreme Court No. 18–0563

---

STATE OF IOWA,  
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

JARROD DALE MAJORS,  
Defendant-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR TAYLOR COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE JOHN D. LLOYD, JUDGE

---

**APPELLEE’S BRIEF**

---

THOMAS J. MILLER  
Attorney General of Iowa

**LOUIS S. SLOVEN**  
Assistant Attorney General  
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-5976  
[Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov](mailto:Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov)

CLINTON L. SPURRIER  
Taylor County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

##

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

## ARGUMENT

### I. **The court did not abuse its discretion by re-imposing the 70% minimum before parole eligibility.**

#### **Preservation of Error**

The defendant may challenge an illegal, void, unconstitutional, or procedurally defective sentence for the first time on direct appeal. *See, e.g., State v. Hoeck*, 843 N.W.2d 67, 71 (Iowa 2014) (citing *Veal v. State*, 779 N.W.2d 63, 65 (Iowa 2010)) .

#### **Standard of Review**

This ruling, like all sentencing decisions within statutory limits, is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *See Roby*, 897 N.W.2d at 137–38.

A discretionary sentencing ruling . . . may be [an abuse of discretion] if a sentencing court fails to consider a relevant factor that should have received significant weight, gives significant weight to an improper or irrelevant factor, or considers only appropriate factors but nevertheless commits a clear error of judgment by arriving at a sentence that lies outside the limited range of choice dictated by the facts of the case.

*Id.* at 138 (quoting *People v. Hyatt*, 891 N.W.2d 549, 578 (Mich. Ct. App. 2016)); *cf. State v. Seats*, 865 N.W.2d 545, 552–53 (Iowa 2015) (quoting *State v. Formaro*, 638 N.W.2d 720, 724–25 (Iowa 2002)) (clarifying that appellate review of rulings for abuse of discretion “is not to second guess the decision made by the district court, but to determine if it was unreasonable or based on untenable grounds”).

## Merits

*Lyle* details the factors that must be considered before imposing a minimum before parole eligibility on a juvenile offender. They are:

- (1) the age of the offender and the features of youthful behavior, such as “immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate risks and consequences”;
- (2) the particular “family and home environment” that surround the youth;
- (3) the circumstances of the particular crime and all circumstances relating to youth that may have played a role in the commission of the crime;
- (4) the challenges for youthful offenders in navigating through the criminal process; and
- (5) the possibility of rehabilitation and the capacity for change.

*Lyle*, 854 N.W.2d at 404, n.10 (quoting *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 477–78 (2012)) (other citations omitted). After that analysis, if the court still determines that incarceration before parole eligibility “is warranted, the district court shall impose the sentence provided for under the statute, as previously imposed.” *See id.*

*Roby* clarified that “the factors must not normally be used to impose a minimum sentence of incarceration without parole unless expert evidence supports the use of the factors to reach such a result.” *See Roby*, 897 N.W.2d at 147. But here, expert evidence supported the court’s analysis of each factor, which the State will address in turn.

1. **Age:** The court noted that Majors was 15 days away from his 18th birthday when he committed these crimes—and, more importantly, it noted that his age did not undermine his “decisional capacity” relating to this specific crime.

Majors argues the resentencing court fell into a trap when it referenced his chronological age and stated that “it is reasonable to assume that he would have been more mature than a 15 or 16 year old defendant and not appreciably less mature than if he had committed the crime two weeks later, at which point he would have been treated as an adult without question.” *See* Ruling (3/21/18) at 4–5; App. 90–91; Def’s Br. at 34–38. But that statement is appropriate for three reasons.

First, it is proper to remark that 17-year-olds are generally more developmentally mature (and more culpable) than younger teens are. Majors seizes on *Roby*’s statement that *Miller* “did not suggest that a seventeen-year-old child is more deserving of adult punishment” than a younger child. *See* Def’s Br. at 35 (quoting *Roby*, 897 N.W.2d at 145). But *Miller* complained that mandatory penalties “preclude a sentencer from taking account of an offender’s age”—and specifically lamented that “the 17-year-old and the 14-year old” receive identical sentences. *See Miller*, 567 U.S. at 477. Nothing in Iowa’s juvenile jurisprudence prohibits a court from remarking on the absence of mitigating weight or recognizing that a younger teen would be sentenced differently.

Second, it was correct to note that Majors would not have matured appreciably in the two weeks before his 18th birthday—especially if that observation is accompanied by a recognition that “age is not a sliding scale that necessarily weighs against mitigation the closer the offender is to turning eighteen years old at the time of the crime.” *See* Ruling (3/21/18) at 4–5; App 90–91 (quoting *Roby*, 897 N.W.2d at 145). The court recognized the applicable law and situated facts about Majors’s chronological age within that framework—which is different from finding a lack of mitigation. That critical finding of a lack of mitigating weight does not appear anywhere in that paragraph.

Third, while the court began with that baseline assumption and generalization that it viewed as “reasonable,” its analysis transitioned to specific facts about Majors’s contemporary psychiatric evaluations and the assessment from Dr. Clemmons. *See* Ruling (3/21/18) at 4–6; App. 90–92. It did not matter what was “reasonable to assume” because the court had access to concrete facts, rendering assumptions moot. *Roby* explained this particular factor “is most meaningfully applied when based on qualified professional assessments of the offender’s decisional capacity”—and the court quoted that explanation when it adopted expert opinions on Majors’s decisional capacity. *See id.* at 6;

App. 92 (quoting *Roby*, 897 N.W.2d at 145). The court specifically referenced and relied upon two different professional assessments: the contemporaneous records from Majors’s competency evaluation, and the retroactive assessment in Dr. Clemmons’s report/testimony. *See id.* 5–6; App. 91–92. No “assumption” forced the court to conclude that Majors’s age had minimal weight as mitigating factor—instead, it based that determination on “the contemporaneous assessment and the current psychiatric testimony.” *See id.* at 6; App. 92.

Majors attacks Dr. Clemmons’s report and testimony because her assessment did not involve “validated assessment methods.” *See* Def’s Br. at 39–41 (citing Elizabeth Scott et al., *Juvenile Sentencing Reform in a Constitutional Framework*, 88 TEMP. L. REV. 675, 708 (2016)). But any diagnostic assessments performed in 2018 would be minimally probative as to Majors’s decisional capacity in 2002, which is the critically relevant inquiry. *See* Scott et al., *Juvenile Sentencing Reform*, 88 TEMP. L. REV. at 702 (“Assessment of an adult prisoner’s intellectual, cognitive, emotional, personality, or mental health functioning typically will be of limited value for inferring those characteristics in a juvenile offender; the utility declines as the time between the offense and the resentencing increases.”). Apart from

identifying persistent disabilities, Dr. Clemmons needed to find and analyze “evaluations [that] may have been performed on [Majors] at or near the time of the offense”—so she was correct to rely on records of his “competence to stand trial evaluations.” *See id.*; *cf.* Exhibit 25 at 3–4, 9–11; CApp. 165–72; *Roby*, 897 N.W.2d at 145 (endorsing use of “contemporaneous medical records” to fulfill need for “[o]bjective indicia of a juvenile’s relevant characteristics” at resentencing).

Majors attacks Dr. Clemmons’s remarks on the age factor. *See* Def’s Br. at 41–42 (quoting Resent.Tr. 83:3–84:21). But she brought nuance to this discussion, noting that juvenile culpability vis-à-vis brain maturity is “a question that both neuroscientists and policy makers have been grappling with for over 2 decades.” *See* Exhibit 25 at 10–11; CApp. 172. And she incorporated scientific research showing that “the brain is gradually changing over time and there is no clear set-point at which we can currently identify full maturation.” *See id.*; App. 172. No court can fault her for that observation. *See Roby*, 897 N.W.2d at 831 (“The qualities that distinguish juveniles from adults do not disappear when an individual turns eighteen, but society has generally drawn the line at eighteen for the purposes of distinguishing juveniles from adults.”). She correctly identified the relevant science:

But looking at his age, from 17 years and 50 weeks to 18 years is a very small change. It's not a switch. It's not on an 18th birthday you flip a switch and the brain is fully mature. It actually takes much longer than the 18th birthday to reach the full maturity, and some people say your brain is ever changing during your lifetime, and we have no mark for full brain maturity.

So looking at kind of those ideas, there would have been minimal brain change or brain growth or brain development within those two weeks. So it wouldn't have necessarily changed his ability to make decisions, his ability to control emotions better or worse, his ability to have impulse control, that sort of thing.

*See* ReSentTr. 82:8–84:11. All of that is true; it is not error to say so.

The heart of Majors's challenge to the findings on the age factor is his claim that the record "demonstrated that [his] age and features of youthful offender is a mitigating factor" because of his self-reports during his 2002 psychiatric evaluation. *See* Def's Br. at 45–48 (citing Exhibit 23 at 43; CApp. 124). But neither Dr. Clemmons nor the court were required to credit his self-serving and inconsistent statements, especially when he admitted that he falsely reported suicidal thoughts to get transferred out of jail. *See* Exhibit 23 at 3; CApp. 84 (noting Majors "admits that he asked to come for psychiatric evaluations so that he could get out of the jail and possibly help with his defense"); *see also* Exhibit 23 at 19; CApp. 101 ("It wasn't for suicidal thoughts."); *Majors*, 2013 WL 2637599, at \*2; *but see* Exhibit 23 at 68; CApp. 149

“I want to fucking go to [C]larinda treatment center because I have thoughts of killing myself.”). And this deceitful manipulation was no isolated event—it was a defining trait. *See* Exhibit 23 at 43; CApp. 124 (describing low test scores but noting that Majors was malingering and that “it’s clear that he should score higher than this”); Exhibit 25 at 10; CApp. 172 (assessing interview in light of prior evaluations and noting “there are several inconsistencies throughout his history and reports of new psychiatric concerns which suggests deceitfulness”). And the list of infirmities that Majors attempts to leverage into a finding of diminished culpability—like his intermittent insomnia, his concern that his peers were teasing him, and his below average IQ—are only helpful in demonstrating that he still has no real interest in comprehending the sheer depravity of his offense and the magnitude of the harms he inflicted on the Peckhams. *See* Def’s Br. at 45–47.

Majors’s scattershot list of woes is tangential to the real inquiry: did his age meaningfully mitigate his culpability for this specific crime? This analysis will overlap with analysis of the third *Miller* factor, so it will be discussed later. At this juncture, the critical takeaway is that a court may observe that Majors was 15 days away from adulthood and state that it diminishes any mitigation, relative to younger offenders.

*Miller* “requires factfinders to attend to exactly such circumstances—to take into account the differences among defendants and crimes.” *See Miller*, 132 S. Ct. at 2469 n.8. And this was not speculation or assumption—the State presented expert analysis to establish that Majors’s chronological age would not have significantly impaired his “behavioral or cognitive abilities” relative to young adult offenders, and did not meaningfully mitigate his culpability for this offense. *See Exhibit 25 at 10–11; CApp. 172–73; accord ReSentTr. 82:8–84:21.*

- 2. Family and Home Environment:** The court was correct to note that nothing about Majors’s background provided meaningful mitigation. He was raised in a stable two-parent household and he faced very few risk factors.

The second *Lyle/Roby* factor “seeks to identify any familial dependency and negative influences of family circumstances that can be ingrained on children.” *See Roby*, 897 N.W.2d at 144. This analysis “does not rely on general perceptions, but specific measures of the degree of functioning.” *Id.* The court was correct when it noted that, other than Majors’s allegations that his father physically abused him before sixth grade (which appeared to have no ongoing effect on their relationship after that point), there was no indication—nor any claim—of “any home environment facts that influenced [his] behavior.” *See Ruling (3/21/18) at 6–7; App. 92; accord Exhibit 25 at 11; CApp. 173*

(noting Majors had reported “having supportive relationships with his parents and friends” and also “denies any physical abuse into his late adolescence”); PSI (2/16/18) at 7–8; CApp. 61–62 (noting Majors “reports he maintained a close relationship” with his father, Bruce, until Bruce passed away in 2017); Exhibit 23, at 5; CApp. 86 (“He denies any abuse issues other than being disciplined as a child.”); Exhibit 23, at 54; CApp. 135 (noting multiple inquiries from Bruce regarding his son’s well-being). As the State argued in 2014:

In this case I think it’s clear from the courtroom the defendant has ample family support, had ample family support at the time this happened, and isn’t one of these kids who had to make it on his own and didn’t have those kind of resources and that kind of support, and I think as you read those opinions since they use them as a mitigating factor, obviously it is not a mitigating factor in this case because the defendant has had family support, you know, throughout this situation.

*See* ReSent.Tr. (2014) 34:7–24; *accord* ReSentTr. 84:22–87:25 (“At the time of the offense, there didn’t appear to be anything going on within the family that would have mitigated anything.”). Indeed, his family was uncommonly supportive throughout the proceedings. *See* PSI Report (2/16/18) at 8, 14; App. 62, 68; Exhibit 25, at 6; CApp. 168; ReSentTr. 40:20–41:12. There is no basis for finding any impairment of functioning or any meaningful mitigation from these circumstances.

3. **Circumstances of the Offense:** Majors committed this offense under circumstances that minimized the impacts of youth on his culpability—he planned and prepared for this offense in advance, he acted alone and in secret, and he sought a “reward” that shocks the conscience.

The third *Lyle/Roby* factor considers the circumstances of the offense and specifically considers “all circumstances relating to youth that may have played a role in the commission of the crime.” *See Lyle*, 854 N.W.2d at 404 n.10. This is similar to evaluating the first factor, but applied to the specific circumstances of this offense: it assesses any interaction between an offender’s chronological/developmental age and relevant circumstances. This sometimes offers circumstance-specific and offense-specific mitigation—but the circumstances of *this* offense establish culpability that is not meaningfully mitigated by youth.

The mitigation weight of this factor “is particularly important in cases of group participation in a crime.” *See Roby*, 897 N.W.2d at 146. But Majors committed this crime alone. Majors argues the court did not properly consider this factor under *Roby* because he initially told law enforcement that “his friends dared him to do it and offered him a hundred dollars to do it.” *See Def’s Br.* at 54–58 (citing ReSent.Tr. 17:8–28:25); *see also* ReSent.Tr. (2014) 15:16–22 (“Mr. Majors was talking to his mother and made a statement that somebody paid him

\$100 to tie them up as a prank.”). But Majors admitted this was a lie. Exhibit 25, at 11; CApp. 173 (“[H]e reports that this was not the case”); ReSentTr. 56:8–17. Majors also points back to his statements during the 2002 competency evaluation, where he “blamed it on a blackout that is associated when people made fun of him.” *See* Def’s Br. at 56 (citing Exhibit 23, at 43; App. 205). But there were no indications that Majors had been “made fun of” before committing this crime. And if Majors really did “black out,” then he would not have been able to describe his actions to Dr. Clemmons; his narrative account proves that “blackout” claim was also a lie. *See* Exhibit 25, at 1–2; CApp. 163; ReSentTr. 53:5–54:7. While *Roby* clarified that “the prominence of peer pressure in the analysis of this factor does not mean the factor cannot support mitigation for crimes committed alone,” the lack of peer influence means that particular form of circumstance-related mitigation is not present in this case. *See Roby*, 897 N.W.2d at 146.

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